STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

12-02-2013

DISTRICT I

CASE NO. 2013AP1675-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KENNETH HARE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DENNIS CIMPL, PRESIDING, AND THE DENIAL OF THE POST-CONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL GUOLEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE APPELLANT

PATRICK FLANAGAN SBN: 1023795

Flanagan Law Office, L.L.C. 759 North Milwaukee Street Suite 215 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202

[414] 224-8686 flanaganlawoffice@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced on January 7, 2012 with the filing of a criminal complaint against Kenneth Hare, alleging in count one, Armed Robbery, contrary to §943.32(1)(a) and (2) of the Wisconsin Statutes and in count two, Attempted First Degree Intentional Homicide, contrary to §940.01(1)(a) and §939.32 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

On March 19, 2012 the jury trial commenced. On March 21, 2012 the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged in count one, Armed Robbery, contrary to §943.32(1)(a) and (2) of the Wisconsin Statutes, and in count two, guilty of the lesser included crime of First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, contrary to §941.30(1) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

On May 4, 2012 the Honorable Dennis Cimpl sentenced the defendant on count one to serve 15 years in the Wisconsin State Prison, with 10 years as initial confinement followed by 5 years as extended supervision. As to count two, the defendant was ordered to serve a concurrent term of 6 years in the Wisconsin State Prison, with 3 years as initial confinement followed by 3 years as extended supervision.

On February 14, 2013 the defendant filed a postconviction motion alleging that he was denied the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel because trial counsel elected to not request the trial court instruct the jury on self defense or accident for count two, the Attempt First Degree Intentional Homicide charge, and for failing to request the court instruct the jury on count one, the Armed Robbery charge, of the lesser included crime of Theft, contrary §941.20(1)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes. On May 1, 2013 the trial court issued a written decision denying, without an evidentiary hearing, the defendant's claim to ineffective assistance of counsel as to the failure to request the lesser included instruction of Theft. The trial court, in that same written decision, also denied, without an evidentiary hearing, the defendant's claim to ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure to request an Accident instruction. Finally, the trial court, in the same written decision, ordered an evidentiary hearing on the defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for the decision not to request a self defense instruction. [R.38].

On June 27, 2013 the evidentiary hearing was held. The court denied the defendant's remaining post-conviction claim. The order was reduced to writing and signed by the court on July 18, 2013. [R.41].

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the jury trial, City of Milwaukee Police Detective Jason Dorav testified that on December 24, 2011 at about 11:30 P.M., he went to 2508 North 53rd Street in the City of Milwaukee to investigate a shooting. There, in an alley, he testified that he observed a projectile that had been fired from a gun, observed an unfired casing, and saw some blood. [R.50: 38]. City of Milwaukee Police Officer Robakowski testified that on January 2, 2012 at about 6:15 P.M. he went to 2707 North 54th Street in the City of Milwaukee in an attempt to locate the defendant. [R.50: 56]. Officer Robakowski testified that the defendant was arrested in the hallway area of his apartment building. [R.50: 59].

Benjamin Trice testified that on December 24, 2011 at about 11:00 P.M. he was driving along Lisbon Avenue heading westbound when he noticed a gentleman running in the middle of the street. Trice testified that he saw blood on the man's shirt. The man told Trice that he had been shot. Trice testified that he gave the man a ride to St. Joseph's Hospital. Trice testified that the man told him that he was trying to buy pills from someone in the alley. [R.50: 67-69]. City of Milwaukee Police Detective Warren Allen testified that on December 24, 2011 he went to St. Joseph's Hospital to investigate what happened to a shooting victim that had been brought there. At the hospital, Detective Allen made contact with Benjamin Trice. Detective Allen testified that he went to Trice's vehicle to check it for evidence. Detective Allen told the jury that in the vehicle he found a gray button down shirt with blood and a couple of holes in it. [R.50: 77-79].

Quintin Wynn testified that on December 24, 2011 he was robbed and shot by the defendant. [R.50: 90-91]. Wynn told the jury that he knew the defendant for a week or two prior to being shot by him. [R.50: 91]. Wynn told the jury that on December 24, 2011 he met the defendant intending to buy about 20 ecstasy pills from him. [R.50: 92]. Wynn identified the bloody shirt with holes in it that was retrieved by Detective Allen from Benjamin Trice's vehicle as the same shirt he was wearing when he was shot by the defendant. [R.50: 95].

Wynn testified that he went to meet the defendant to buy the ecstasy pills from him and the defendant surprised him by pulling out a gun and demanding "everything I got." [R.50: 98]. Wynn stated he looked closely at the gun and knew that it was a real. [R.50: 99]. Wynn testified that he gave the defendant money, his Michael Jordan watch, his wallet, his cell phone and his jacket. [R.50: 101-102].

Wynn testified after that the defendant then ordered him to go to a nearby abandoned house. Wynn testified that he told the defendant that he wouldn't go to the abandoned house and told the defendant: "If you're going to shoot me, shoot me in the alley right here, right now." [R.50: 105]. Wynn testified that the defendant ordered him to get down on his knees, which he did. Wynn told the jury that the defendant then shot him in his left shoulder under his right breast, in his side and his right forearm. [R.50: 106].

Wynn testified that when this happened he had a knife on him. He told the jury that he had the knife in his jacket pocket. Wynn denied taking it out at any point during the encounter with the defendant. Wynn testified that he decided not to pull it out because it might be: "one false move that I couldn't afford." [R.50: 112]. Wynn testified that during the shooting he tried to defend himself by grabbing the gun with his left hand, pushing the defendant off from him, and then running away. [R.50: 118].

City of Milwaukee Police Detective William Sheehan testified that on January 3, 2012 he spoke with the defendant in a video recorded interview. [R.51: 31]. The video recording of the interview was played in court for the jury. [R.51: 33-37]. Detective Sheehan testified that the defendant told him that he met up with a person he knew only as "Q" and "Q" pulled out a knife on him and the defendant responded by pulling out a gun and pointing it at "Q". [R.51: 41]. Detective Sheehan testified that the defendant told him that after this he then began to wrestle with "Q". [R.51:63].

In the video recording, which was played for the jury once during the trial and for them again, at their request after deliberations were underway, the defendant told Detective Sheehan that on December 24, 2011 he went to meet up with "Q" to sell him some ecstasy pills. [R.__:1]. The defendant explained that he had taken two ecstasy pills and two bars of Xanax earlier that day and was feeling "high". [R.__:1-2]. The defendant told Detective Sheehan that "Q" was "acting too frigidity" so the defendant pulled out his gun and demanded that "Q" remove his hand from his pocket. [R.__:2]. The defendant told Detective Sheehan that "Q" responded by grabbing the gun and it went off. [R.__:2].

The defendant stated that when they began to struggle over the gun "Q" then pulled out an army surplus knife. [R.__:5]. The defendant stated that "Q" eventually dropped the knife to the ground and ran off. [R.__8]. The defendant told Detective Sheehan that prior to running off, "Q" dropped his wallet. [R.__5]. The defendant stated that the wallet fell out on the ground while they were wrestling. [R.__:7]. The defendant stated that at no point did he demand that "Q" give him any of his property. [R.__:7]. The defendant however admitted that he picked up the wallet and the items inside it and took them to his baby's mother's house. [R.__5]. The defendant told Detective Sheehan that the wallet, the identification cards and a condom were still at the baby's mother's house inside a computer pouch in the living room closet. [R.__:5-6].

Detective Sheehan testified at trial he went with a search warrant to that location. [R.51: 53]. Detective Sheehan testified that there he found Wynn's social security card, his Wisconsin identification card and the condom. [R.51: 58-61].

ARGUMENT

I. The defendant was deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel because trial counsel elected not to request a jury instruction on the law of self defense.

The United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant to the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV, Wisconsin Const. art. I, §7; *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶18, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. To establish the denial of effective assistance of counsel, the defendant must prove first, that counsel's performance was deficient, and second, that counsel's deficiencies prejudiced his defense. *Id.*, (*citing Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)).

Counsel's performance is deficient when it falls below objective standards of reasonableness. Id., at ¶19 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). To prove prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient conduct, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. However, a defendant does not need to establish that the final result of the proceeding would have been different. State v. Smith, 207 Wis.2d 258, 275, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). The prejudice inquiry's focus is not the outcome of the trial, but rather "the reliability of the proceedings." Thiel, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶20 (quoting State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 642, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985)). "The result of a proceeding can be rendered unreliable, and hence the proceeding itself unfair even if the errors of counsel cannot be shown by a preponderance of the evidence to have determined the outcome." *Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d at 642 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 694).

At the post-conviction hearing trial counsel testified that he did not request a self defense instruction in the case because: "the self defense instruction did not apply to our theory of defense." [R.55: 16]. Trial counsel explained that his theory of defense for the case was that: "there was a struggle over the gun and the gun went off. That it was not intended to be an armed robbery and it was not intended to be a homicide." [R.55:17]. Trial counsel testified that he had ultimately concluded not to request a self defense instruction because that would have: "muddled our theory of defense" for the jury. [R.55: 22].

Those explanations are dramatically inconsistent with the way trial counsel argued the case to the jury at trial. In his opening statement, trial counsel telegraphed to the jury that self defense was going to be an issue in the case. He did so by explaining to the jury that: "Kenneth Hare didn't pull out a gun because he was trying to rob anybody. He pulled out a gun because he realized that Quintin Wynn, the other man, had a knife." [R.50: 25]. Trial counsel also told the jury in his opening remarks that they could expect to: "hear that both of these men, Mr. Hare and Mr. Wynn, were concerned about their safety during this transaction and took steps towards protecting themselves." [R.50: 26].

Trial counsel told the jury in his opening remarks that the evidence would show that the defendant: "got scared when he realized that Mr. Wynn was standing there in front of him with a weapon in his hand." [R.50: 30]. Trial counsel went on to explain that: "Mr. Hare didn't intend to kill Mr. Quintin Wynn. The gun went off accidentally, unintentionally when they had their hands around it and they were struggling and pulling on it." [R.50: 30].

Later, in his closing argument, trial counsel reminded the jury that, in his video recorded statement, the defendant justified his decision to come armed to his meet up with Wynn because: "People be getting' robbed up around Center street." [R.52: 62]. Trial counsel pushed self defense to the jury when he argued that: "Mr. Hare gave his explanation to the detective of what it is that happened that night...he pulled his gun out because there's Mr. Wynn standing a couple feet in front of him with a knife." [R.52: 74].

Trial counsel also defended his decision to not ask for a self defense instruction by testifying at the post-conviction motion hearing that: "I did not see a factual basis for claiming self defense. I didn't see a factual basis that the judge would allow that and I thought it was bad for our defense." [R.55: 23]. This explanation is belied by the record. The trial court indicated to trial counsel quite clearly that a self defense instruction would be given if it were requested:

> "I know in the jury instructions of the State, the State asked for two lesser included crimes, 1st degree recklessly endangering safety and 2nd degree recklessly endangering safety; defense asked for none; nobody asked for anything regarding self defense. What I want the two of you to do overnight is both of you mock up what you want in the way of your substantive jury instructions on Count 2, I don't need Count 1, I have those worked out, I also have the rest of the jury instructions worked out too. But I need the two of you to give me an idea of what you want in the way of substantive jury instruction on the attempt 1st degree intentional homicide with any lesser included crimes, with any self defense instructions." [emphasis added]; [R.51: 78-79].

In arguing the defendant's case to the jury, trial counsel emphasized that the defendant acted with the intent to protect his life and his safety. That argument was consistent with the justifications the defendant made on the video recorded statement as to why he brought a gun to his meeting with Wynn, why he pulled it out, and why he then struggled with Wynn for control of the gun. Requesting a self defense instruction on these facts was an obvious call. It was deficient performance for trial counsel not to make that call.

The jury ultimately elected not to convict the defendant of the crime of Attempted First Degree Intentional

Homicide in favor of finding guilt on the lesser included crime of First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety. Their verdict expresses in part that that they had reasonable doubt the defendant acted with intent to kill. Their verdict is at odds with what Wynn told them: that the defendant ordered him to get down on his knees before shooting directly at him multiple times. [R.50: 106].

Their verdict is arguably more consistent with the defendant's version of what took place in the alley that night. In his statement, the defendant explains that because he feared for his life and safety he brought a gun to his meeting with Wynn, pulled the gun out after seeing Wynn arm himself with a knife, and thereafter struggled aggressively with Wynn for control of the firearm. However, because of trial counsel's error, the jury was not unaware that they could accept these claims as legally justified under a claim of self defense. The consequence of that error is that the confidence in the reliability of the proceedings is shaken. The defendant was therefore prejudiced and a new trial is required.

II. The trial court erred by ruling that the defendant was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that he was deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel because trial counsel did not request the jury be instructed on the crime of Theft, a lesser included crime of Armed Robbery.

When a post-conviction motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court has no discretion and must hold an evidentiary hearing. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d 303, 310 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (citations omitted); *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citations omitted). Whether a post-conviction motion meets this standard is a question of law which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310 (citations omitted). In reviewing a post-conviction motion to determine whether a hearing is warranted, the circuit court must accept the factual allegations as true and then decide whether there are sufficient objective material factual assertions that entitle the defendant to relief. See *State v*. *Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶37, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62.

A trial court may, in its discretion, deny a motion without a hearing if the motion does not raise a question of fact, presents only conclusory allegations or if a review of the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶9, 12 (citations omitted). This discretionary decision is subject to deferential review under the erroneous exercise of discretion. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶9.

In his closing argument to the jury, trial counsel conceded that the defendant took property which belonged to Wynn. [R.52: 76-77]. Although trial counsel argued the taking was not connected to the crime of Armed Robbery, he otherwise did not contest the defendant's actions met all the elements of theft: that he took property of another intentionally and knowingly without consent with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession. [R.52: 76-77]. Trial counsel's argument was consistent with the admissions made by the defendant in the video recorded statement. [R._:5-7].

The difference in exposure between Armed Robbery [40 years] and Misdemeanor Theft [9 months] is clearly very substantial. Given the concessions trial counsel was forced to make in arguing the case to the jury as to the taking of Wynn's property by the defendant, requesting the lesser included crime of Theft was another obvious call. Unfortunately, because of the trial court's decision not to allow an evidentiary hearing on this issue, no record has been made as to why trial counsel did not make that call.

In its ruling denying the defendant's request for an evidentiary hearing on this issue, the trial stated that: "[E]ven if counsel had sought the lesser included offense of theft in this case, the defendant cannot demonstrate to a reasonable probability that counsel's failure to request it would have affected the outcome of the verdict." [R.38: 2].

The analysis employed by the trial court on this issue is in error. First, the trial court neglected in its decision to address whether the defendant's post-conviction motion presented sufficient material facts entitling him to relief therefore requiring an evidentiary hearing. Second, the trial court neglected to address whether trial counsel's decision not to seek the lesser included instruction met the deficiency prong under the *Strickland* test. Finally, the trial court failed to apply the correct prejudice standard, whether the deficient performance undermines the reliability of the proceedings. Instead, the trial court chose to apply an outcomedeterminative test.

Under the correct standard the failure to provide the jury with the lesser included instruction undermines the reliability of the proceedings. As previously argued in this brief, by going for the lesser included offense in count two, the jury concluded there was reasonable doubt that the defendant intended to kill. Their verdict on this count more closely reflects what the defendant reported took place than what Wynn testified to. The defendant's version of what happened in the alley between him and win is more consistent with his commission of a Theft as opposed to an Armed Robbery. The jury was unaware that they could conclude what the defendant admitted to constituted Theft rather than Armed Robbery. It was an error for trial counsel not to ensure that the jury had this option in the deliberation room. The consequence of that error is that the confidence in the reliability of the proceedings is shaken. The defendant has therefore suffered prejudice and a new trial is required.

CONCLUSION

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