RECEIVED

02-17-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF A PPEALOF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP1675-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KENNETH L. HARE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL AND MICHAEL D. GUOLEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As Respondent, the State exercises its option not to include separate statements of the case and facts. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.19(3)(a)2. Relevant information will be included where appropriate in the State's argument.

ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant Kenneth L. Hare, Jr., appeals a judgment of conviction for one count each of armed robbery by use of force and firstdegree recklessly endangering safety (25). See Wis. Stat. §§ 943.32(2); 941.30(1). Hare was convicted of these crimes for robbing and shooting Quintin Wynn during a drug deal in Milwaukee. The jury convicted him of the armed robbery as charged, but found him guilty of recklessly endangering safety as a lesser-included offense of attempted first-degree intentional homicide (52:22-29; 53:8-9).

Hare also appeals orders denying his motion for postconviction relief (29; 38; 41).¹ In his motion, Hare argued that his trial counsel, Nathan Opland-Dobs, was ineffective for failing to request jury instructions on self-defense and theft as a lesser-included offense to the armed robbery (29:5-

¹ The Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl presided at Hare's trial and entered the judgment of conviction against him (25). The Honorable Michael D. Guolee heard and denied Hare's postconviction motion (38; 41; 55).

7). The circuit court denied relief on both claims, holding a hearing on the former, but not the latter (38:2-3; 41; 55:59-73). On appeal, Hare argues the circuit court's decisions were erroneous (Hare's brief at 8-13).

This court should affirm. The circuit court correctly held that Opland-Dobs was not deficient for not requesting a self-defense instruction. It is not clear the instruction would have been appropriate under the facts of the case and in any event, Opland-Dobs made a reasonable strategic decision not to ask for one. Additionally, the circuit court properly denied Hare's claim that Opland-Dobs should have requested a theft instruction without a hearing because the allegations in Hare's postconviction motion were insufficient and the record showed that Opland-Dobs had a valid reason for not requesting it.

> HARE HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING HIS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS.

- A. Opland-Dobs was not deficient for failing to request a self-defense instruction.
 - 1. Applicable law and standard of review.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must establish both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that this performance prejudiced his defense. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must establish that his or her counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id*.

In proving that counsel was deficient, the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that his or her counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. State v. Swinson, 2003 WI App 45, ¶ 58, 261 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 12 (citation omitted). The defendant must demonstrate that his attorney made serious mistakes which could not be justified in the exercise of objectively reasonable professional judgment, deferentially considering all the from circumstances counsel's contemporary eliminate perspective to the distortion of hindsight. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-91.

To satisfy the prejudice prong, the defendant must show that counsel's errors were serious enough to render the resulting conviction unreliable. *Strickland*. 466 U.S. at 687. A defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. The critical focus is not on the outcome of the trial but on "the reliability of the proceedings." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 20, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (quoted source omitted).

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents this court with a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 768, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). Under this standard of review, the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* The ultimate issue whether counsel was ineffective based on the facts is subject to independent appellate review. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶¶ 18-19, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

2. Discussion.

a. The evidence did not support a selfdefense instruction.

Initially, this court should conclude that Hare has failed to prove that Opland-Dobs performed deficiently by not asking for a self-defense instruction because he has not shown that the court would have given one had counsel requested it. *See State v. Ambuehl*, 145 Wis. 2d 343, 352, 425 N.W.2d 649 (Ct. App. 1988).

In order to be entitled to a jury instruction setting forth a defense to the crime charged, there must be sufficient evidence in the record to support it. See State v. Hemphill, 2006 WI App 185, ¶ 8, 296 Wis. 2d 198, 722 N.W.2d 393 (citing State v. Coleman, 206 Wis. 2d 199, 212-13, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996)). "Evidence to support the instruction is sufficient if 'a reasonable construction of the evidence will support the defendant's theory "viewed in the most favorable light it will reasonably admit of from the standpoint of the accused."" State v. Giminski, 2001 WI App 211, ¶ 10, 247 Wis. 2d 750, 634 N.W.2d 604 (quoting State v. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 153, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977)).

Hare has not demonstrated that the circuit court would have been obliged to instruct the jury on self-defense had Opland-Dobs requested it do so. In his brief, he relies heavily on Opland-Dobs' opening statement and closing argument, noting that in them, he made comments consistent with a claim of self-defense (Hare's brief at 9-10). But Hare has to show the trial evidence would have supported the instruction. Counsel's arguments are not evidence. See State v. Eugenio, 210 Wis. 2d 347, 358, 565 N.W.2d 798 (Ct. App. 1997). Hare also argues that the circuit court at one point suggested that it might be willing to give the instruction, but again, this does not show that the evidence would have warranted it (Hare's brief at 10).

Further, the record shows that there was no evidence to support a self-defense instruction. Hare argues that self-defense would have excused his decision to pull a gun on Wynn during the drug deal because he believed Wynn was holding onto a knife in his pocket and would not show Hare his hands (Hare's brief at 9-11). Hare told police this is why he drew his gun and a recording of this statement was played at trial (51:33-37; 59:2, 5-6). Hare also claimed the shooting was accidental after Wynn tried to grab the gun (59:4-6, 8-9).

Self-defense would have allowed Hare to threaten or intentionally use force against another person to prevent or terminate what Hare believed was an unlawful interference with his person. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1). Hare appears to be arguing that he threatened force against Wynn by drawing his gun, and that this was privileged under § 939.48(1) (Hare's brief at 11). There would have been no basis for the court to give a self-defense instruction on this theory because even assuming Hare's threat of force against Wynn was privileged, it would not have excused his responsibility for any of the charged crimes under the facts of his case.

For example, the threat would not have been to the attempted applicable first-degree intentional homicide charge because it would not have shown that any eventual use of force by Hare was permissible under Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1). While Hare could argue he was justified in drawing his gun, he has pointed to nothing that would suggest that his later intentionally shooting Wynn would also be privileged. This is because Hare never claimed that he intentionally shot Wynn. Instead, he told police his gun went off accidentally when Wynn tried to grab it. Hare's threat of force would have been completely irrelevant to the homicide charge. See Clephorn v. State, 55 Wis. 2d 466, 469, 198 N.W.2d 577 (1972) (defendant not entitled to self-defense instruction on first-degree murder charge where defendant testified he did not intend to shoot victim).²

Self-defense would also not have mattered to the first- and second-degree recklessly endangering safety charges given as lesserincluded offenses of the homicide (52:25-29). The

² The only way self-defense would appear to be relevant to Hare's accident defense would be to establish that he was acting lawfully when he pulled his gun on Wynn, which is a requirement of the accident defense. If Hare's actions were privileged under Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1), then he would have been acting lawfully when the accident happened. *See State v. Watkins*, 2002 WI 101, ¶¶ 41-58, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244. Hare does not make this claim on appeal, and it was not an issue at trial.

State's theory of these charges was that Hare recklessly endangered Wynn's safety by pulling the gun on him, ordering him to his knees, and holding the gun in close proximity to his head (52:58-59). Even if Hare was privileged in pulling his gun, there is nothing in the record that would support a claim that he needed to order Wynn to the ground and hold a gun on him to terminate the supposed unlawful interference of Wynn having a knife in his pocket.

Finally, self-defense would not apply to the armed robbery charge. Again, even assuming Hare had been entitled to draw his gun, there is no reason that taking Wynn's property was necessary for Hare to terminate any unlawful interference with his person. The record shows that Hare would not have been entitled to a self-defense instruction, and Opland-Dobs was not ineffective for failing to request one.

b. Opland-Dobs made a reasonable decision not to request the instruction.

This court should also hold that, even if a selfdefense instruction was available, Opland-Dobs made a reasonable strategic decision not to ask for one.

At the postconviction hearing, Opland-Dobs testified that he and Hare had discussed the possibility of raising self-defense (55:11-12, 20-21). He also said that he ultimately decided to argue, based on what Hare told him and the police, that Hare drew his gun because he thought Wynn had a knife but that the shooting was an accident and there was no intent to kill or rob him (55:11-15). Opland-Dobs said his theory of the crime was "[t]hat there was a struggle over the gun and the gun went off. That it was not intended to be an armed robbery and it was not intended to be a homicide" (55:17). Opland-Dobs further testified he did not request a self-defense instruction because it did not apply to the defense he raised, was not relevant, and he thought it "would have muddled what our theory of defense was" (55:16-17).

Additionally, Opland-Dobs said that in light of this defense, he was not going to ask the jury to find Hare guilty of one of the lesser-included endangering safety charges (55:18). He testified that he did not want to concede that what Hare did was a reckless act (55:19). When asked about his comments in his opening statement about why Hare pulled his gun, Opland-Dobs said that he made them to explain why Hare had the gun and why he brandished it, not to establish self-defense (55:15-16, 21-22).

The trial court accepted Opland-Dobs' testimony and held that he made a reasonable decision to argue the shooting was an accident without also claiming self-defense (55:59-73).

This court should affirm. Opland-Dobs considered arguing self-defense and concluded it either did not apply to the facts or raising it would muddle the primary defense of accident. This is exactly the kind of reasoned trial strategy to which appellate courts are required to defer. *See State v. Elm*, 201 Wis. 2d 452, 464-65, 549 N.W.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1996) (citations omitted) (court does not second-guess trial counsel's selection of tactics

in face of alternatives that counsel has weighed). Further, counsel is entitled to choose a particular defense from those that are available, and is not obliged to raise every nonfrivolous defense. See Knowles v. Mirzayance, 556 U.S. 111, 127 (2009); State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, ¶ 22, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784. Opland-Dobs acted reasonably in deciding not to ask for a self-defense instruction.

In addition, Hare has not shown that Opland-Dobs was deficient. While he criticizes Opland-Dobs' explanations why he did not attempt to argue self-defense as inconsistent with his comments in his opening statement and closing argument, as noted, Opland-Dobs testified at the postconviction hearing that he made these comments to explain why Hare drew the gun in the first place (55:15-16, 21-22). This was part of Opland-Dobs' overall defense strategy, which was reasonable.

Hare also argues that the circuit court indicated it was willing to give a self-defense instruction (Hare's brief at 10; 51:78-79). Even assuming Hare is correctly interpreting the court's comment, the State fails to see how this makes Opland-Dobs' decision deficient. Opland-Dobs was entitled to pick a defense and was not obligated to raise every possible one. Hare has not demonstrated that Opland-Dobs was ineffective for failing to request a self-defense instruction. B. Hare's postconviction motion was insufficient to warrant a hearing on his claim that Opland-Dobs was ineffective for not requesting a theft instruction.

1. Applicable law and standard of review.

Before a defendant can succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing to preserve counsel's testimony. *See State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

A defendant is not automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing. To obtain one, the defendant must allege facts in his postconviction motion that "allow the reviewing court to meaningfully assess [the defendant's] claim." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 21, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (quoting *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 314, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)). A postconviction motion sufficient to meet this standard should "allege the five 'w's' and one 'h'; that is, who, what, where, when, why, and how." *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 23.

If the petitioner does not raise sufficient facts, if the allegations are merely conclusory or if the record conclusively shows that the petitioner is not entitled to relief, the trial court has the discretion to deny a request for an evidentiary hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 309-10 (citation omitted). Whether a motion is sufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing is a legal issue this court reviews de novo. *Id.* at 310.

2. Discussion.

Hare also argues that the circuit court erroneously denied without an evidentiary hearing his claim that Opland-Dobs should have requested a jury instruction on theft as a lesser-included offense to the armed robbery charge (Hare's brief at 11-13). The circuit court held that because the jury would have needed to consider the armed robbery charge before considering theft, and the jury convicted Hare of armed robbery, it would have never assessed if he was guilty of theft and thus, there was no probability of a different result due to Opland-Dobs not requesting the instruction (38:2).

This court should affirm, but for different reasons. See Bence v. Spinato, 196 Wis. 2d 398, 417, 538 N.W.2d 614 (Ct. App. 1995) (appellate court may affirm trial court's holding on a theory or reasoning different from that relied on by the trial court). Hare's postconviction motion was insufficient to warrant a hearing and the record conclusively demonstrated that Opland-Dobs was not deficient for not asking for a theft instruction.

Hare's argument in his postconviction motion on this issue was conclusory. It stated:

Trial counsel conceded in his closing that the defendant took property from the scene which belonged to Mr. Wynn. [citation omitted]. Although trial counsel denied the taking of the property was connected to the crime of Armed Robbery, he otherwise basically conceded all of the elements that make up the crime of Theft. [citation omitted].

. . . There is also no sound strategic reason for counsel to have conceded the elements of the lesser included offense of Theft and then not ask the jury to be instructed accordingly.

(29:6-7).

This argument was insufficient to warrant a hearing. It does not place Opland-Dobs' closing argument in context and only conclusorily asserts that he was deficient for not requesting the instruction. Further, there is no argument at all addressing prejudice. The circuit court was not obliged to hold a hearing on these sparse allegations.

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